
EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING
AGENDA

Venue: Egremont Market Hall 
Date: Tuesday, 9th May, 2017
Time: 3.30 pm
Contact Officer: Denise James Tel: 01946 598528

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Declarations of Interest in Agenda Items: 

3. Chairman's Announcements 

4. Questions from Members of the Public - Must relate to business on the 
agenda. 

5. Questions by Members - Must relate to business on the agenda. 

6. New Council Accommodation:  Proposal to Name Main Council 
Chamber/Conference/Meeting Room as the ‘OSSY COYLES" Meeting 
Room 

1 - 2

7. Scrutiny Committee Annual Report 3 - 6

8. Social Media Policy 7 - 28

9. Member Development Strategy 29 - 36

10. Healthy Weight Declaration 37 - 42

11. Interim Housing Policy and Work Programme for the Copeland Local Plan 43 - 64

Public Document Pack



Membership: Councillors  Carla Arrighi, David Banks, Martin Barbour, Jackie Bowman, 
John Bowman, Anne Bradshaw, Hugh Branney, Denise Burness, John Burns, 
Yvonne Clarkson, Peter Connolly, John Dirom, Gwynneth Everett, Neil Ferguson, 
Allan Forster, Jeanette Forster, Raymond Gill, Fred Gleaves, Michael Guest, Ian Hill, 
Keith Hitchen, Lena Hogg, Allan Holliday, Mark Holliday, Joan Hully, Alan Jacob, Linda Jones-
Bulman, John Kane, Bob Kelly, William Kirkbride, Jean Lewthwaite, Charles Maudling, 
Michael McVeigh, Sam Meteer, David Moore, Alistair Norwood (Deputy Chair), 
Brian O'Kane, Sam Pollen, Andy Pratt, Christopher Reay, David Riley, Graham Roberts, 
Gilbert Scurrah, Peter Stephenson, Graham Sunderland, Gillian Troughton, Peter Tyson 
Paul Whalley, Doug Wilson and Felicity Wilson

Contacts: Direct Dial: 01946 598528
E-mail: denise.james@copeland.gov.uk
Website: www.copeland.gov.uk



Council: Extraordinary meeting: 9th May 2017 
 
NEW COUNCIL ACCOMMODATION: PROPOSAL TO NAME MAIN COUNCIL CHAMBER/ 
CONFERENCE/ MEETING ROOM AS THE ‘OSSY COYLES MEETING ROOM’ 
 
EXECUTIVE MEMBER: 
 

Mike Starkie, Elected Mayor. 

LEAD OFFICER: 
 

Fiona Rooney, Director of Commercial & Corporate 
Resources. 
 

REPORT AUTHOR: 
 
REPORT SUMMARY: 
 
 
 
 

Clinton Boyce, Solicitor. 
 
To consider whether the main conference/meeting room, 
in the new Council accommodation, should be named in 
memory of Alderman Oswald Coyles,  who sadly died last 
year, in recognition of his work and dedication to local 
government spanning 54 years.  

 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 
That the main conference/meeting room in the new Copeland Centre accommodation 
be named the ‘Ossy Coyles Meeting Room’ and that a commerative plaque be placed in 
the room to the effect that the room has been dedicated to the memory of Alderman 
Oswald Coyles (1919-2016) for his long and dedicated service to local government as 
both a borough and parish councillor, mayor and alderman over a period of 54 years.  
 

 
1. INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 Members will be aware that Alderman Oswald Coyles sadly died last year at the 

age of 97. Alderman Coyles was a dedicated and irreplaceable former member 
and alderman of the Council. He was a Parton Parish Councillor of 54 years and 
twice held the post of Copeland’s Mayor during a 30-year career on the Council. 
He was an original member when Copeland Council formed in 1973, and was 
appointed honorary alderman of the borough in 2003.  He continued to be an 
advocate for the Labour party and Copeland Council right up until his death. In 
addition to his political repertoire Mr Coyles was a dedicated supporter of 
Copeland Disability Forum and an active member of the local church community.   

 
1.2 We will all possess our own fond memories of Alderman Coyles, our appreciation 

of him and our admiration of his dedication over the years with particular note  
also for his regular attendance at Council meetings until 2016. If any local 
politician deserves a particular dedication most will agree that it should be 
Alderman Coyles. 

Page 1

Agenda Item 6



1.3 The new office accommodation is likely to be completed later this year and this 
will include a new conference/large meeting room which will be used as a 
Council chamber. It is proposed that this room be dedicated to the memory of 
Alderman Coyles, named the ‘Ossy Coyles Meeting Room’ and that a 
commerative plaque be mounted on a wall within the room explaining why the 
room has been so named. This plaque will reflect Alderman Coyles dedication to 
local government, at both parish and district level, over a 54 year period. 

 
2. PROPOSAL 

 
That the main conference/meeting room in the new Copeland Centre 
accommodation be named the ‘Ossy Coyles Meeting Room’ and that a 
commerative plaque be placed in the room to the effect that the room has been 
dedicated to the memory of Alderman Oswald Coyles (1919-2016) for his long 
and dedicated service to local government as both a borough and parish 
councillor, mayor and alderman over a period of 54 years. 

 
3.      STATUTORY OFFICER COMMENTS  
 
3.1 The Monitoring Officer’s comments are: No legal issues arise. 
 
3.2 The Section 151 Officer’s comments are: Minimal costs will arise from the 

dedication and will be contained within existing budgets. 
 
3.3 EIA Comments: Not applicable. 
 
3.4  Policy Framework: Not applicable. 
 
3.5 Other Consultee Comments, if any: None. 
 
4.      HOW WILL THE PROPOSALS BE PROJECT MANAGED AND HOW ARE THE RISKS  
 GOING TO BE MANAGED? 
 
 Not applicable. 
 
5.  WHAT MEASURABLE OUTCOMES OR OUTPUTS WILL ARISE FROM THIS 

REPORT?  
 

 Not applicable. 
 
Appendices: None. 
Background information:  None. 

Page 2



 OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE ANNUAL REPORT 2016-2017

 LEAD MEMBER:  Ray Gill, Overview & Scrutiny Chair

 LEAD OFFICER:  Julie Betteridge, Director of Customer and Community  
 Services

REPORT AUTHOR:             Clive Willoughby, Democratic Services Officer

Recommendations:
Council is asked to note The Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s Annual Report.

 

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 This report has been prepared to provide Members with an overview of the 
activity Overview and Scrutiny Committee has been involved with over the 
last twelve months.

1.2 A Strategic Housing Panel consisting of Councillors Denise Burness, John 
Dirom, Neil Ferguson, John Kane, Charles Maudling, Andy Pratt and chaired 
by Councillor Linda Jones-Bulman was created to oversee strategic housing 
issues and has met since September 2016 on a quarterly basis.

1.3 During the last year, the Performance Sub-Committee consisting of 
Councillors Yvonne Clarkson, Keith Hitchen, Sam Meteer, Anne Bradshaw, 
Jeanette Forster and chaired by Councillor Mark Holliday has met to 
monitor all performance reports. 

1.4 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee was supported by an Interim Scrutiny 
officer until 31 December 2016. The position has since been vacant 
following the review of support services. A recruitment process to fill the 
new Part-Time Scrutiny Officer position has now started. 

2. 2016-2017 HIGHLIGHTS

2.1 Disabled Facilities Grants 
A Task and Finish Group led by Councillor Anne Bradshaw, had reported in 
late 2015 on independence and improved health & wellbeing for Copeland 
residents, particularly DFG policies, delivery and practice.
Several recommendations were made and shared with the stakeholders.
The Task and Finish Group reconvened in June 2016 to review the progress 
made on each of the recommendations. The group were pleased to discover 
that significant improvements had been made and maintained. 

Page 3

Agenda Item 7



2.2 2017-2018 Budget proposals
Following a training session for OSC members on 21 December 2016, the 
budget proposals were scrutinised in depth by the Committee. 
Comments/suggestions submitted were taken into account, which 
contributed to the 2017-2018 Budget being agreed. 

2.3 Accommodation Review – Phase 1 (Market Hall)
The Overview and Scrutiny Committee Task & Finish Group looked at the 
accommodation in the Market Hall following the Council’s occupation of the 
building from January 2016.
A number of recommendations for improvement were made to Executive, 
all of which were agreed and have been implemented.   

2.4 Social Media Policy
Following a request from Full Council on 28 June 2016 for a review of the 
Social Media Policy, a Task and Finish Group was established to review the 
Council’s Social Media Policy.

A revised policy was prepared and is being forwarded to Council for approval.

2.5 Health Review in South Copeland
Following the Health Review of North Copeland which took place in 
2015-2016, a similar review began in January 2016 to look at South Copeland.
A Task and Finish Group was established led by Councillor Felicity Wilson, 
consisting of Councillors Denise Burness, Ray Cole and Doug Wilson.  
A number of sessions were held where stakeholders were interviewed. 
The report from the Task and Finish Group was presented to the 9 August 
2016 OSC meeting and subsequently forwarded to Executive and Council.

2.6 Success Regime
By far the biggest, and probably most important, piece of work undertaken 
by Overview and Scrutiny in the last year, was the consultation on ‘The 
Future of Healthcare in West, North and East Cumbria’ (The Success Regime).

A Task & Finish Group led by Councillor Ray Gill, to which all Members were 
invited to take part, was set up in August 2016. Councillors John Bowman, 
Jackie Bowman, Anne Bradshaw, Hugh Branney, Yvonne Clarkson, Jeanette 
Forster, Ian Hill, Keith Hitchen, Brian O’Kane, Jean Lewthwaite, Sam Pollen, 
Felicity Wilson

Following publication of the consultation document in late September, the 
Task & Finish Group met on 12 occasions throughout the autumn and invited 
over a dozen key witnesses from the medical profession, ambulance service 
and support organisations to attend. The Task & Finish Group also visited the 
West Cumberland Hospital where a meeting was held with senior hospital 
managers and staff.

Page 4



A consultation response was formulated by Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee, agreed by Executive and became the Council’s formal 
submission.   

2.7 Cumbria Health and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee
 Councillor Ray Gill is Copeland’s representative on the Cumbria Health and 

Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee and is currently its Vice Chairman.
Reports from Councillor Gill are submitted at every OSC meeting and are 
available within the minutes via ModGov.

2.8 Key Performance Indicators
The OSC Performance Sub-Committee considered the proposed 2016-2017 
Key Performance Indicators and have provided comments and suggestions 
for inclusion in the approval process.

2.9 Constitution Review
A Constitution Task and Finish Group consisting of Councillors John Bowman, 
Jackie Bowman, Anne Bradshaw, Graham Sunderland and Felicity Wilson has 
recently commenced a review of Council’s Constitution.

 
2.10 Call-Ins

During the last year, Overview and Scrutiny Committee has ‘Called-In’ one  
decision made by Executive. This was regarding accommodation at the
Market Hall, Whitehaven building. As a result of the Call-In, the Executive 
agreed with the recommendations of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
and amended their decision. 

2.10 Other
In addition to the above, Committee has also considered Social Inclusion and
Investment, the Copeland Housing Strategy and welcomed an overview of 
Commercialisation from the Mayor.

3. CONCLUSION

3.1 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee have again welcomed the 
opportunity of receiving referrals from both Executive and Council over the 
last year. 

 
  The Committee looks forward to continued involvement of this nature in the 

coming year, adding to an already heavy workload included in the 
Committee’s Work Plan.

The appointment of a dedicated Scrutiny Officer is also eagerly anticipated. 

Appendices: None

List of Background Documents: None

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



       
SOCIAL MEDIA POLICY 
 
LEAD MEMBER: Councillor David Moore, Portfolio Holder 

for Nuclear and Corporate Services (to 
include Democratic Services); 

LEAD OFFICER: Julie Betteridge, Director of Customer 
and Community Services; 

REPORT AUTHOR: Clinton Boyce, Solicitor. 

Summary: Following a request from Council on the 28th June 2016 the social media policy has 
been reviewed by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

Recommendation: That Council adopt the Social Media Guidance and Acceptable Use Policy, 
as set out as an appendix to this report.

 
WHAT BENEFITS WILL THESE PROPOSALS BRING TO COPELAND RESIDENTS? 
 
Compliance by members with a Social Media Guidance and Acceptable Use Policy will 
contribute to the Council’s continuing duty to promote and maintain high standards of 
conduct by members as required by section 27(1) of the Localism Act 2011. 

1. INTRODUCTION  
1.1  Section 27(1) of the Localism Act 2011 requires the Council to promote and maintain high 
standards of conduct by members and co-opted members of the Council. In discharging that 
duty a Council must, in particular, adopt a code of conduct. A Council can, in discharging its 
duty to maintain high standards also adopt other policies and documents. 
 
1.2 Council on the 28th June 2016 requested that an earlier draft of the social media policy be 
reviewed by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee. A Task and Finish Group, comprising of 
Councillors Ray Gill, Keith Hitchen, Anne Bradshaw, Jeanette Forster and Brian O’Kane was 
established by that Committee on the 9th August 2016 to undertake the review. The review 
was concluded on the 11th November 2016. A draft policy was subsequently approved by the 
Committee which now recommends adoption of a policy to the Executive and Council. 

2. SOCIAL MEDIA GUIDANCE AND ACCEPTABLE USE POLICY 
 
2.1 The proposed Social Media Guidance and Acceptable Use Policy (‘the Policy’) is attached 
as an appendix to this report. The Policy seeks to regulate the use of social media sites by 
members and employees when representing the Council in the public domain. It seeks to 
achieve a consistent and corporate approach to the use of social media, to ensure that 

Page 7

Agenda Item 8



information remains secure and is not compromised by social media and to ensure that the 
Council’s reputation is not damaged. The Policy applies to a variety of social media including 
the areas which have caused the most difficulties for code of conduct matters namely 
Facebook and twitter as well as MySpace, You Tube, Flickr, etc. 
 
2.2 The Policy includes an appendix A which sets out the guiding principles and actions that all 
councillors and employees must follow to ensure acceptable use.  These guiding principles 
reflect the Nolan principles and those set out in section 28(1) of the Localism Act 2011, 
namely selflessness, integrity, objectivity, accountability, openness, honesty and leadership. 
Social media conversations by members should be respectful, be credible and consistent, be 
honest about who you are, be responsive and be confident.  
 
2.3 The safest rule is that members should remain professional at all times when using social 
media. Strictly the code of conduct only applies when a person is acting as a member. This 
question however soon becomes clouded particularly when ward Facebook pages are used. 
The safest course of action for members is to be respectful and professional at all times when 
using social media.  
 
2.4 The Policy sets out how infringements of the Policy will be dealt with, largely as a breach 
of the code of conduct.  
 
3. CONCLUSION 
 
 To promote and maintain high standards of conduct Council is asked to adopt the attached 
Policy.
 
4. STATUTORY OFFICER COMMENTS  
 
4.1 The Monitoring Officer’s comments are: A number of pending code of conduct complaints 
relate to social media. Some of these will be referred to, and considered by the Audit and 
Governance Committee as specific complaints shortly.  
 
4.2 The Section 151 Officer’s comments are: No financial issues arise directly from this report. 
Investigation of code of conduct complaints has a cost, through external investigators and in-
house staff time. Anything which promotes higher standards must be welcomed if it 
contributes to reducing that cost. 
 
4.3 EIA Comments: No issues arise directly from the report.  
 
4.4 Policy Framework: The Policy will sit alongside the adopted code of conduct. 
 
4.5 Other consultee comments, if any: None.  

Page 8



5. RESOURCE REQUIREMENTS 
 
 None. 
 
6. HOW WILL THE PROPOSALS BE PROJECT MANAGED AND HOW ARE THE RISKS  
GOING TO BE MANAGED? 
 
 Not applicable. 
 
7. WHAT MEASURABLE OUTCOMES OR OUTPUTS WILL ARISE FROM THIS REPORT? 
 
 Improved standards of conduct. 
 
List of Appendices: 
 
Appendix - Social Media Guidance and Acceptable Use Policy 
 
List of Background Documents: 
 
As appendix. 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Social Media

Guidance 
and 

Acceptable Use Policy 

Draft Version 3
January 2017

Page 11



Page 2 of 18

2
 
Document Control

Organisation Copeland Borough Council
Title Social Media – Guidance and Acceptable Use Policy
Author
Filename
Owner MIS Manager
Subject Acceptable use of Social Media sites
Protective Marking
Review date

Revision History

Revision 
Date

Revision by Previous 
Version

Description of Revision

11/11/16 OSC Task & Finish Gp Draft Ver 1

Document Approvals

This document requires the following approvals:
Version Approved by Date
V 1.0 Executive
V 1.0 Full Council
MIS
Policy Officer Gillian Butterworth
Communications Leila Cox

Document Distribution
This Policy will be posted on the Copeland Borough Council website and internal intranet site, 
it will also be included in induction pack issued to new councillors, employees, consultants, 
contractors and volunteers.

Contributors
Development of this policy was assisted through information provided by the following Departments 
and external organisations: -

 Copeland Management Information Systems (MIS)
 Overview and Scrutiny Committee, Social Media Task and Finish Group

Page 12



Page 3 of 18

3
Contents

1. Purpose………………………………………………………………………………………………...............4
2. Introduction…………………………………………………………………………………………………. ….5
3. Scope…………………………………………………………………………………………………………...……5
4. Definitions………………………………………………………………………………………………………...6
5. Policy Details………………………………………………………………………………………………….….6
6. Roles and Responsibilities……………………………………………………………………………….…8
7. Policy Monitoring………………………………………………………………………………………………9
8. References…………………………………………………………………………………………………………9
9. Appendices: -

Appendix A - lists of guiding principles and actions that all councillors and 
employees must follow to ensure the acceptable use of social media sites…….11

Appendix B – Guidance on capturing Social Media Posts…………………………………15

Appendix C – Blogging guidance for Councillors……………………………………………….17

Page 13



Page 4 of 18

4
1. Purpose

The purpose of this document is to define the acceptable use of social media sites by 
councillors and staff when representing Copeland Borough Council (the Council) in the public 
domain.

The policy is intended to ensure that social media is used in a way that is positive, effective and 
lawful; and does not compromise the Councils’ business, reputation, information or computer 
systems and networks.

Social media sites must be utilised responsibly and with respect for the law, the professional 
reputation of the Council, and the personal impact it can have on the individuals there-in. 

All Copeland Borough Council councillors and employees are expected to follow this policy and 
guidance.

The following risks to the Council have been identified in relation to the use of social media 
(this is not an exhaustive list):

 Breach of the code of conduct for members through inappropriate use.
 Virus or other malware (malicious software) infection from infected sites.
 Disclosure of confidential information.
 Damage to the Council’s reputation.
 Social engineering attacks (also known as ‘phishing’).
 Bullying or witch-hunting.
 Civil or criminal action relating to breaches of legislation.
 Breach of safeguarding using images or personal details leading to the exploitation of 

vulnerable individuals.

Considering these risks, the use of social media sites should be regulated to ensure that such 
use does not damage the Council, its employees, councillors, partners and the people it serves.

This policy aims to ensure:
 A consistent and corporate approach is adopted and maintained in the acceptable use 

of social media.
 Council information remains secure and is not compromised by social media.
 Users understand and operate within existing policies, guidelines and relevant 

legislation.
 The Council’s reputation is not damaged or adversely affected.

This document provides guidance on:
 The acceptable use of social media.
 The effective management of social media usage. 
 How to minimise or mitigate the risks and pitfalls associated with social media usage.

Page 14



Page 5 of 18

5
2. Introduction

Copeland Borough Council like many other local authorities and public sector agencies is 
increasingly looking to social media to engage with a wider audience and provide a two way 
dialogue with the public.

Social media is a rapidly expanding form of communication and encompasses all sorts
of internet sites, with the most popular probably being Facebook and Twitter. Such 
sites are no longer just the domain of young people and they offer great potential, if
used right, to reach a wide cross section of the population. 

The biggest difference between traditional forms of communication such as 
newspapers, radio & television and social media sites, is that with social media it is the user 
who is generating the content. This means they require a different approach and are not as 
easily controlled.

Benefits that social media can bring for Copeland Borough Council
As a Council, we have a mandate to be open and transparent in all we do. This means we need 
to find ways to communicate effectively with our residents, whatever their age, background, 
levels of literacy etc. New technology and social media gives us increasingly more ways of 
doing this. 

Given the nature of sites such as Facebook we also have a greater chance of 
stimulating debate and receiving feedback on our services. Such sites are a good way of 
monitoring customer satisfaction. 

It allows us an additional value-for-money way of consulting with residents (in addition to the 
informal dialogue that it provides). We can target our message, link to questionnaires and 
repeatedly push people to respond.

Social media is a very swift way to communicate when necessary, for example in emergencies 
or when a message needs to be spread quickly. A message can be posted immediately and 
people asked to share.

We need to embrace social media but we also need some clear guidelines on how we promote 
ourselves on there and how we regulate staff contributions.

3. Scope

This document applies to all Councillors, Committees, Departments, Partners, Employees of 
the Council, contractual third parties and agents of the Council, when representing Copeland 
Borough Council; all of which will be referred to as councillors and employees hereinafter.

The policy advocates the acceptable usage and conduct of all councillors and employees when 
participating in any social media site, whether listed here or not, to represent Copeland 
Borough Council in the public domain.

Page 15



Page 6 of 18

6
Copeland Borough Council may choose to use any social media site to publish the 
views of the Council, information and news. This policy applies to any social media site 
deemed fit for purpose to represent the views, news and information provided by the 
Council and published in the public domain.

4. Definitions

The definition of Social Media site in relation to this policy is:

Any site or service on the internet where content may be created or published and 
adapted by people who use the sites and tools and which allows a two-way 
conversation.

Examples of Social Media sites and tools include:

• Facebook
• MySpace
• Twitter
• Blogs
• YouTube
• Instagram
• Snapchat

• Flickr
• Wikis 
• Wikipedia
• LinkedIn
• DeA Communities
• Discussion Forums

This is not an exhaustive list and only gives examples of sites. It includes any sites 
which may emerge after the creation of this policy where Copeland Borough Council 
could be represented via online participation.

5. Policy Details

When representing the Council, all councillors and employees should use social media in a way 
that is positive, respectful and lawful; 
All councillors and employees are expected to follow the guidelines set out in this policy.

Personal responsibility
Councillors and employees are personally responsible for the content that they publish on any 
form of social media. 
Publishing or allowing to be published (in the form of a comment) an untrue statement about a 
person which is damaging to their reputation may incur a libel action.

Social media sites are in the public domain and it is important to ensure you are confident of 
the nature of the information you publish. Once published, content is almost impossible to 
control and may be manipulated without your consent, used in different contexts, or further 
distributed.  

Page 16



Page 7 of 18

7
Appendix A lists an extended set of guiding principles and actions that all councillors and 
employees must follow to ensure the acceptable use of social media sites.

Conduct
Many Copeland Borough Council employees and councillors are probably already using sites 
such as Facebook in their own time. This is fine but we still need to ensure that any reference 
to the Council is positive and helpful.

Anyone receiving threats, abuse or harassment via their use of social media should report it to 
the police.  If a threat, abuse or harassment is made by a Councillor, the matter may be 
referred to the Monitoring Officer under the Code of Conduct.  If a threat, abuse or 
harassment is made by an employee, the matter may be referred to the relevant Line Manger 
or Director under the Employees Code of Conduct.
Guidance on capturing Social Media Posts is included at Appendix B.

Other violations of this policy, such as breaching the Data Protection Act, could lead to criminal 
or civil action being taken against the Council or the individual(s) involved.

The Council reserves the right to request the removal of any content that is deemed to be in 
breach of the Code of Conduct for members or Employees Code of Conduct.

Councillors are reminded that in respect of social media, they are governed by the Code of 
Conduct for members and relevant law. 

Breaches of this policy may amount to a breach of the Council’s code of conduct for members 
and failure to comply with this policy could result in action being taken in accordance with the 
Council’s Code of Conduct.

A formal complaint may be made to the Monitoring Officer, who will review the complaint, 
consult with the Independent Person, and then give their decision on how the complaint will 
be dealt with.

Care should particularly be taken in respect of councillor Facebook pages and Ward Facebook 
pages. Here a Councillor could easily be assumed to be acting as a Councillor for the purposes 
of the Code of Conduct or that the page is associated with, or under the control of the Council.
Councillors and officers entering posts on such pages must ensure that the post is not 
disrespectful to any person and that they do not bring the office of councillor or the Council 
itself into disrepute. Such posts will be a breach of the code of conduct.

Aspects of the Members’ Code of Conduct will apply to blogs. 
Members should comply with the general principles of the Code in what they publish (and 
what they allow others to publish).

Blogging guidance for Councillors is included at Appendix C.

Page 17



Page 8 of 18

8
The following guidance is not exhaustive and if you have any queries you should contact the 
Monitoring Officer.

Employees are reminded that in respect of social media, they are governed by the Employees 
Code of Conduct and relevant law. 

Breaches of this policy may amount to a breach of the Employees code of conduct, and failure 
to comply with this policy could result in disciplinary action being taken.
Employees should direct concerns or complaint to their line manager.

Risks
Copeland Borough Council recognises that there are risks associated with the use of social 
media sites.

This policy aims to mitigate the following risks:

 Unauthorised access to PROTECTED and RESTRICTED information.
 Unauthorised introduction of malicious software and viruses.
 Potential sanctions against the Council or individuals imposed by the Information 

Commissioner’s Office as a result of information loss or misuse.
 Potential legal action against the Council or individuals as a result of information 

loss or misuse.
 Council reputational damage as a result of information loss or misuse.

Non-compliance with this policy could have a significant effect on the efficient operation of the 
Council and may result in financial loss and an inability to provide necessary services to our 
customers.

The key thing to remember when publishing anything, in particular to social media sites, is 
that once you press ‘send’ it is there for all the world to see. What might seem appropriate 
or humorous in the heat of the moment could backfire in the long term. Before publishing it 
is important to stop and think about the consequences of what you are saying.

6. Roles and Responsibilities

 Elected Mayor and elected members – Must carry out their representations and duties 
in line with this policy and guidance.

 All Employees - Must carry out their representations and duties in line with this policy 
and guidance. 

 ICT Officers – Provision of equipment and facilities only.  ICT Policies.
 Communications Officers – Manage the Councils Social Media sites. 

Page 18



Page 9 of 18

9
The following table identifies who within Copeland Borough Council is Accountable, 
Responsible, Informed or Consulted with regards this policy.  

Responsible - for the creation and update of this policy MIS Manager.

Accountable - the person who has ultimate accountability 
and authority for this policy

Director of Commercial and 
Corporate Resources.

Consulted - the person(s) or groups to be consulted prior to 
final amendment and sign off

Communications, Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee.

Informed - the person(s) or groups to be informed of this 
policy

Councillors, Committees, 
Departments, Partners, 
Employees of the Council, 
contractual third parties and 
agents of the Council.

7. Policy Monitoring
The policy will be reviewed and updated every two years, or as and when updates to 
legislation require. 

Incidents/complaints of a social media nature involving members, will be reported to the 
Audit and Governance Committee on a regular basis, in the normal way.

Complaints against staff will be dealt with using existing disciplinary procedures.

8.  References

The following Copeland Borough Council policy documents are directly linked to this policy, 
and maybe referenced in relation to this policy:

 Email Policy.
 Internet Acceptable Use Policy.
 Software Policy.
 Government Connect Secure Extranet (GCSx) Acceptable Usage Policy and Personal 

Commitment Statement.
 Legal Responsibilities Policy.
 Code of Conduct for Members
 Employees Code of Conduct

Page 19



Page 10 of 18

10

THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY BLANK

Page 20



Page 11 of 18

11
Appendix A

Guiding principles and actions for the use of social media sites.
This policy must be applied whenever Councillors, Committees, Departments, Partners, 
Employees of the Council, contractual third parties and agents of the Council use social media 
websites to represent the Council in the public domain.

Principles
General principles for using social media
Councillors and employees are should follow these five guiding principles for any social media 
activities:

 Be respectful
At all times, be polite, open, respectful, cordial, honest and professional.

 Be credible and consistent
Make sure you are accurate, fair, thorough and transparent.

  
 Be honest about who you are

It is important that any account or profile you set up is clearly and easily 
identifiable.

 Be responsive
Respond to questions and comments in a timely manner.

 Be confident
Don’t fear participating. 
Feel confident in what you say before you say it – and say it as clearly as you can.

Actions
1. Make use of stringent privacy settings if you don’t want your social media to be 

accessed and make sure you understand their confidentiality/privacy settings.

2. Do not disclose personal details such as home addresses and telephone numbers. 
Ensure that you handle any personal or sensitive information in line with the 
Council’s Data Protection Policy.

3. Do not publish or report on meetings which are private or internal (where no 
members of the public are present or it is of a confidential nature) or are Part 2 
reports (which contain confidential information or matters which are exempt under 
the provision of the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985). Use of 
social media in meetings must comply with the protocol for the use of hand held 
electronic devices during any meeting held under the auspices of the Council.

Page 21



Page 12 of 18

12
4. Copyright laws still apply online. Placing images or text from a copyrighted source 

(e.g. extracts from publications or photos) without permission is likely to breach 
copyright. Avoid publishing anything you are unsure about or seek permission from 
the copyright holder in advance.

5. Do not send or post inappropriate, abusive, bullying, racist or defamatory messages 
to members of the public, other councillors or officers either in or outside the work 
environment.

6. During the pre-election period (purdah) extra care must be taken and detailed 
guidance will be provided at that time.

7. In any personal profile of an account used in their capacity as a Councillor, it should 
be clearly stated that the views are those of the Councillor in question and may not 
represent the views of the Council.

8. Do not use the Council’s logo, or any other council related material on a personal 
account or website. 

9. Social media must not be used for actions that would put councillors in breach of 
the Council’s Code of Conduct. For example, don’t publish on social media 
something you would not say face to face, or at a public meeting.

10. Be aware of your own safety when placing information on the internet and do not 
publish information which could leave you vulnerable.

11. Anyone receiving threats, abuse or harassment via their use of social media should 
report it to the police and if the threat, abuse or harassment is made by another 
Councillor, the matter may be referred to the Monitoring Officer under the Code of 
Conduct.

12. It is recommended that in the case of Facebook, councillors wishing to keep their 
personal life and role as a councillor separate create a Facebook page which 
members of the public can like rather than using their personal profiles.

Further good practice

 It is your responsibility to maintain your page 
If you develop a presence on a site then it is your personal responsibility to keep it 
up-to-date and meaningful. Nothing is more likely to alienate contributors than posts 
that go unanswered or finding material is old and no longer relevant

 Importance of sticking to area of expertise
If you are blogging or contributing to a site, it is important that you declare an 
interest and stick to your area of expertise. Do not get drawn into commenting on 
things you don’t know about or do not have the responsibility to discuss.

Page 22



Page 13 of 18

13
 Posting meaningful comments

Post meaningful, respectful comments. If you disagree with someone remain polite. 

 Be yourself i.e. let personality shine through
We can often be criticised for being dull in the way we communicate so this is one 
time when you can be more engaging. 

 Admit mistakes
If you do get something wrong in a post to a website then be sure to admit it and 
retract it as soon as possible. Do not hide behind anonymity. It is best to be open and 
honest at all times. 

Information and comments published on social media sites:
 Stay in the public domain for a long time
 Can be republished on other websites
 Can be copied, used and/or amended by others 
 Could be changed to mis-represent what was originally stated
 Can attract comments and interest from other people, organisations and the media

Remember you are representing the Council
 Never give out details of dealings with colleagues without prior permission
 Never give out details about customers, partners or 3rd parties without their prior 

consent
 If in doubt check with your manager if you are not sure what is or isn’t confidential 
 Never make offensive comments about any member of staff, customer, supplier or 

partner of the Council
 Do not use ethnic slurs
 Do not publish personal insults
 Do not use obscenities 

Do not pick fights, be the first to correct your mistakes and do not alter previous posts without 
indication you have done so.

Don’t be afraid to be yourself, but be considerate about other people’s view, especially around 
“controversial” topics such as religion or politics.
You can challenge views without being abusive.

If the media contact you about something you have published online always take their contact 
details, arrange to call them back and seek advice from the Communications department 

Page 23



Page 14 of 18

14

THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY BLANK

Page 24



Page 15 of 18

15

Appendix B

Guidance on capturing social media posts

Posts made using third party sites such as Facebook or Twitter are not held, or within the 
control of the Council – posts can be deleted by site administrators without knowledge or 
consent of the Council. In exceptional circumstances, copies of posts may be made and 
retained by the Council (e.g. as evidence of inappropriate posts).

Where inappropriate use is suspected, it is suggested that you should pro-actively attempt to 
capture any inappropriate posts (before they might be deleted). Copies should be made (press, 
‘alt + Print screen,’ and copy into MS Word) and reported to both the relevant authority within 
the Council, as well as following the social media sites own reporting procedures where 
appropriate. Please note that this is just one means of gathering evidence of inappropriate use; 
it does not preclude the gathering of other types of evidence, e.g. witness statements.  

Page 25



Page 16 of 18

16

THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY BLANK

Page 26



Page 17 of 18

17
Appendix C

Blogging Guidance for Councillors

Blogging members need to be particularly aware of the following provisions:

1. Treat others with respect. Avoid personal attacks and disrespectful or rude or 
offensive comments.

2. Comply with equality laws. Avoid publishing anything that might be considered 
sexist, racist, ageist, homophobic or anti-faith.

3. Refrain from publishing anything you have received in confidence.

4. Ensure you don’t bring the Council, or your Councillor role, into disrepute.

Additional legal guidance for members who have chosen to set up and run their own 
personal blogs. 
There is clear distinction between member information published by Copeland Borough 
Council, such as the member pages on the Council’s website, and member posts which are the 
sole responsibility of the individual member.

There are important reasons for this distinction. 

Material published by the Authority is, for obvious reasons, restricted in terms of content. It 
must not contain party political material and, in relation to other material, should not 
persuade the public to a particular view, promote the personal image of a particular Councillor, 
promote an individual Councillor’s proposals, decisions or recommendations, or personalise 
issues. Nor should the Council assist in the publication of any material that does any of the 
above.
Nonetheless the Council takes the view that member blogs can make a positive contribution to 
improving community engagement and leadership.
The following is a brief guide to some of the legal pitfalls for members in establishing their own 
personal blogs. 
Almost all of these can be avoided if the content of your blog is objective, balanced, 
informative and accurate.

Libel
If you publish an untrue statement about a person which is damaging to their reputation they 
may take a libel action against you. This will also apply if you allow someone else to publish 
something libellous on your website if you know about it and don’t take prompt action to 
remove it. A successful libel claim against you could result in an award of damages against you.

 Copyright
Placing images or text on your site from a copyrighted source (e.g. extracts from publications, 
photos etc.) without permission is likely to breach copyright.

Page 27



Page 18 of 18

18
Avoid publishing anything you are unsure about or seek permission in advance. 
Breach of copyright may result in an award of damages against you.

 Data Protection
Avoid publishing the personal data of individuals unless you have their express written 
permission.

 Bias and Pre-determination
If you are involved in determining planning or licensing application or other quasi-judicial 
decisions, extreme care should be taken to avoid publishing anything on your blog that might 
suggest you don’t have an open mind about a matter you may be involved in determining. If 
not, the decision runs the risk of being invalidated.

 Obscene material
It goes without saying that you should avoid publishing anything in your blog that people 
would consider obscene.
Publication of obscene material is a criminal offence.

This guidance is aimed at giving a general overview of the legal issues to be aware of in 
publishing your own blog. 
Further explanation can be obtained from the Legal Services Manager but Councillors should 
be aware that the content of their blogs is their own responsibility. If the content is objective, 
balanced, informative and accurate, and you maintain and demonstrate an open mind on any 
matters on which you may be called upon as a member to make a decision, you substantially 
reduce the possibility of a successful legal challenge to the content being made.

Page 28



MEMBER DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY

EXECUTIVE MEMBER: Mike Starkie, Mayor of Copeland
LEAD OFFICER: Fiona Rooney, Director of Commercial and Corporate 

Resources
REPORT AUTHOR: Clive Willoughby. Democratic Services Officer

Summary: To consider a recommendation from the Member Training and 
Development Panel and Executive to approve the updated Member 
Development Strategy 

Recommendation: That the revised Member Development Strategy be approved and 
to re-affirm continued commitment to training and development for 
Members.

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 The Council’s Member Development Strategy was first approved in 2004. It was 
reviewed in 2009 and again in 2012.

1.2 The Strategy is in need of revision to ensure it continues to reflect best practice 
and the range of development opportunities available to Councillors.

2. ARGUMENT

2.1 The Member Training and Development Strategy was initially created to satisfy a 
requirement of North West Employers Organisation which contributed to the 
Council being accredited with the North West Charter for Member Development.

The Strategy has evolved over the years and has previously been reviewed in 2009 
and 2012. The strategy has been redrafted in consultation with the Member 
Training and Development Panel. It contains a mission statement which 
recognises development as a key to achievement of the Council’s objectives and 
to recruitment, retention and succession planning. It commits the Council to 
providing support to Councillors in identifying their own development needs and 
providing opportunities which match individual learning preferences.

2.2 The draft Strategy clarifies roles and responsibilities, including those of individual 
Members for their own learning and development, the Member Training and 
Development Panel in overseeing and supporting activities, and of relevant 
officers. It also contains clear links to the Council’s overall corporate objectives.

Page 29

Agenda Item 9



2.3 Although no final decision has yet been made regarding the Council applying for a 
Level 1 renewal of the North West Charter for Member Development, it would be 
considered best practice for the Council to have an approved Member  
Development Strategy in place.

3. CONCLUSIONS

3.1 The revised draft Strategy (Appendix “A”) has been considered by the Member 
Training & Development Panel and Executive who recommend it be adopted by 
the Council.   

4.     STATUTORY OFFICER COMMENTS 

4.1 The Monitoring Officer’s comments are: Contained within the report

4.2 The Section 151 Officer’s comments are: 

4.3 EIA Comments: There will be no advantageous or disadvantageous implications 
for any group in the community arising from the proposals in this report.

4.4 Other consultee comments, if any: None

List of Appendices 

Appendix A – Revised Draft Strategy

List of Background Documents: Nil
List of Consultees: 

Page 30



1

Appendix A

Member Development Strategy

Introduction

In October 2006, the Council achieved the North West Charter Award for Elected 
Member Development. In 2012 the Accreditation was renewed, confirming the 
continuous improvement and improved effectiveness of the Member development 
process.

This strategy has been produced in consultation with Councillors to ensure that 
member development is relevant, appropriate to their needs and provides Members 
with the necessary ‘tools for the job’. This is a flexible, working document which will 
evolve as required to meet the needs of the Authority.

Training and development is available to, and its take-up will be encouraged for, all 
Councillors and the elected Mayor irrespective of seniority, length of service or 
political affiliation and will be provided in accordance with the council’s commitment 
to equal opportunities.

Links to the Corporate Strategy

The Mission and Vision included in the Corporate Strategy for 2016-20 is 
underpinned by three core values:

 Working with Partners;
 Being Cost Effective; and
 Treating Everyone Fairly and with Respect.

And the ambition “To strengthen the way we operate”. 

The Mission Statement

Copeland Borough Council is committed to the development of its Councillors and 
elected Mayor as a key to success in delivering high quality and valued services to 
the public.

The Council believes that Councillors play a pivotal role in delivering the 
improvement and innovations to which the Council is committed in its Corporate 
Plan. As innovation and change expose both elected Members and officers to new 
experiences and challenges, new skills and knowledge are needed to ensure 
Councillors continue to have the capacity to provide high quality services and 
leadership in their local communities

The Council is committed to the continued recruitment and retention of high quality 
individuals from all sectors of the community into local government as Councillors 
and believes that a robust and eclectic development programme will be a 
cornerstone to successful leadership succession planning.

Page 31



2

Aims

The Member Development Strategy has the following underlying aims:

 To encourage Councillors in their own development & learning and to take full 
advantage of learning and development opportunities available to them, to make 
learning part of everyone’s way of life.

 To raise the profile of Copeland by ensuring each Councillor has access to 
training which will enable them to be more effective in their roles, so that they can 
better serve their constituents and communities.

 To contribute to the Council’s corporate aims through learning and development

 To enable the sharing of good practice.

 To ensure Members have a full understanding of their different roles, for example: 
decision-making role; scrutiny role; community leadership role; representative role 
on outside organisations

 To ensure that all newly elected Members are properly inducted into the Council 
and their role.

We will ensure that:

 Development needs will be identified at least annually by a combination of 
organisational, statutory and individual requirements. 

 All Councillors will be encouraged to develop their roles using as a guide those in  
the agreed Elected Member Role Descriptions.

 All Councillors will be made aware of development opportunities available 
through all means possible, including email and a periodic newsletter. 

 All Councillors will be required to complete annual Personal Development Plans 
to assist them in identifying their learning and development needs. 

 All Councillors are equipped with the necessary skills to make maximum use of 
all sources of learning, including internet and social media sources.

 The process of learning and development will be conducted in accordance with 
equality requirements.

 An assessment will be provided upon request, of how we can assist those with 
special needs, family or work commitments to carry out their role as a Councillor.

 Development activities will be assessed to ensure value for money in accordance 
with the Council’s financial Standing Orders and events will be reviewed to 
ensure quality and effectiveness.

Page 32



3

 We will create the right environment where learning is encouraged and 
supported.

 In order to develop links with all parts of the Community, training and 
development will be carried out where possible on a partnership basis with the 
County, other District Councils, Town & Parish Councils and partner 
organisations.

Roles and Responsibilities

The Individual Councillor – whilst the Council will offer practical support and 
encouragement and where possible and appropriate, resources for training and 
development, the Council expects and requires each individual Councillor to take a 
personal responsibility for their own learning and self-development.
The Member Development Panel – will oversee all Councillor training and 
development  on behalf of the Council and will agree all training and development 
strategies and programmes for Councillors, including agreeing the Annual Member 
Development Programme and events not included in the programme, and 
encouraging & promoting a culture of learning and continuous improvement. 

The Council’s Solicitor and the Democratic Services Team - Will support 
Councillors, devise and deliver a comprehensive Development Programme, advise 
and assist the Member Development Panel in carrying out their role, increase 
awareness of development opportunities and provide all logistic and administrative 
assistance to Councillors in connection with learning and development.

The Corporate Leadership Team – will lead, encourage and facilitate member 
development and will participate in delivery of development and mentoring where 
appropriate. 

How will we measure our Effectiveness in implementing the Strategy?

 Councillors feeling more confident in their role (assessed as a percentage 
increase by the annual questionnaire)

 Councillors stating that their knowledge of modernisation, Scrutiny, ethics has 
increased (assessed as a percentage increase by the annual questionnaire)

 An increase in the number of Councillors undertaking development activities

Induction

All Councillors will be encouraged to undertake an Induction Programme in the first 
few months following election covering the basic areas of knowledge necessary and 
to participate within a supportive environment. The Induction Programme will be 
delivered in whole or in part as e-learning.

Induction sessions will be held throughout the first three months and these sessions 
will also be open to existing Councillors.

Page 33



4

Each new Councillor will receive an Induction Pack containing helpful and practical 
information to assist them in the first few months in their new role.  

Refresher courses will be held annually in respect of each of the Council’s 
committees. The courses will take place at the first meeting of each Committee 
following the annual meeting and will outline the terms of reference and provide any 
information needed to participate fully in the work of the Committee.

Integrated Training

Where appropriate and possible, staff and Councillors will be trained together, this 
reflects the culture of the Council and leads to better mutual understanding and co-
operation. Development opportunities will also be offered where possible, to partner 
organisations.

Information Services

An abundance of useful information is made available for Members to assist them in 
their role.  Information can be obtained from the Members Room, The Council’s 
Intranet site, the Council’s Website and the ‘Members Weekly Update’. 

Learning Styles

It is recognised that people have different preferences for the way in which they learn 
new skills.  There are a wide range of methods for learning including:

 Networking
 Observation
 Presentations
 Quiet Reading
 Action Learning
 Internet Research
 Councillor Mentoring
 Local College courses
 Information Technology
 CD ROMs /DVD’s and Videos
 Visits to other Local Authorities
 Local, Regional and National Conferences
 Corporate Training and Development Courses

Training Needs Analysis

A training needs analysis will be undertaken annually by identifying individual training 
needs arising from PDP’s. The results of this analysis will indicate the learning and 
development priorities for forthcoming years.

Page 34



5

Evaluation & Monitoring of the Strategy

It is vital that Members are well equipped to undertake their work and be effective as 
local representatives.  

The Member Development Strategy will be reviewed on an annual basis by the 
Member Development Panel, and recommended to Full Council for agreement.  

Evaluation & Monitoring of What Members Learn

In order to get the best out of development opportunities we need to evaluate the 
impact of any organised event and ensure that any learning has been put into practice. 
 

Where events are organised by the Council, Members will be requested to complete 
a feedback form.  These forms should be completed as honestly as possible to help 
ensure that future Members are receiving high quality training with positive outcomes. 
 The Member Development Panel will review the attendance and feedback from 
events on a quarterly basis.

April 2017

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank



FULL 090417 
 
HEALTHY WEIGHT DECLARATION 
 
EXECUTIVE MEMBER: Councillor Dave Banks, Portfolio Holder 
LEAD OFFICER: Julie Betteridge, Director of Customer and Community 

Services 
REPORT AUTHOR: Julie Betteridge 
 
WHAT BENEFITS WILL THESE PROPOSALS BRING TO COPELAND 
RESIDENTS? 
 
The Council has set out its commitment to “health is everyone’s business” 
through actively working with partners in the Copeland Health and Wellbeing 
Forum, the Cumbria Public Health Alliance and through local networks to 
improve services and ensure we play our active role.  Our Corporate approach 
and ambition is to improve the wellbeing of all our residents through delivering 
our services and working in partnership.  This Declaration is a formal sign up of 
our commitment to work with others around healthy weight in support of a healthy 
community in Copeland. 
 
WHY HAS THIS REPORT COME TO THE EXECUTIVE? 
(eg Key Decision, Policy recommendation for Full Council, at request of 
Council,etc.) 
 
Executive are being asked to sign up to this Local Ddeclaration on Healthy 
Weight in partnership with the County Council, Cumbria District Councils 
and other key partners delivering public services.   
 

RECOMMENDATIONS:  
 
Full Council are requested to 
a) sign up to the Healthy Weight Declaration as set out in this report; and  
b) note the partnership activity in addressing healthy weight concerns in 
Copeland.  

 
1. INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 The Council’s current Corporate Strategy, adopted by Full Council in 

February 2016, sets out our ambition on social wellbeing.  Within our 
strategic objectives the Council commits to “Work with partners to support 
the most vulnerable”.  The Council does this through a range of 
arrangements and partnerships including the Copeland Health and 
Wellbeing Forum which we chair.  Servicing and support is in liaison with 
Cumbria County Council.  We are active members of the Cumbria Public 

Page 37

Agenda Item 10



Health Alliance which enables Cumbria District health issues to inform and 
influence county level commissions and delivery. 

 
1.2 The Cumbria Public Health Alliance discussed the Local Government 

Declaration of Healthy Weight at its last meeting in March 2017.   
Presentations were received from Public Health England on the purpose 
and principles of the Declaration alongside a case study from Blackpool 
Council officers on their journey to adopting the Health Weight 
Declaration.  The outcome of the Alliance meeting was recognition of a) 
the role the Councils, both County and local Districts, play in taking 
responsibility individually and collectively in developing and implementing 
policies which promote healthy weight, and b) requiring a joint approach to 
get a whole systems approach to tackle obesity in Cumbria.  The Alliance 
is recommending that Cumbria County Council and all the District 
Authorities in Cumbria should seek to collectively sign up to the Healthy 
Weight Declaration. 

 
1.3 The World Health Organisation (WHO) regards childhood obesity as one 

of the most serious global public health challenges for this century.  
National statistics highlight that if current trends continue 1 in 3 people will 
be obese by 2034.  Obese children and adults are at an increased risk of 
developing various health problems and also more likely to become obese 
adults.  The 2015/16 National Child Measurement Programme evidence 
on childhood obesity levels in Cumbria and Copeland show significant 
above national average rates of excess weight and obesity at Reception 
level.   

 
1.4 In the Copeland Health and Wellbeing Forum we have prioritised partner 

action to target infant and primary school age health weight challenges 
particularly reducing the difference between the average weight of children 
starting school and children in the last year of primary school.  There has 
been some positive impact from local initiatives to increase activity in this 
primary age group including the very successful gymnastics initiative 
through our leisure contract provider and the national gymnastics 
governing body but a more integrated programme of action is needed.  

 
2. PROPOSALS 
 
2.1 Healthy weight is a priority for the Copeland Health and Wellbeing Forum.  

We are looking to join with our Cumbrian Local Authority partners to use 
the Declaration of Healthy Weight as a collaborative framework to ensure 
we work together through engaging all service areas in tackling healthy 
weight challenges in the County and specifically in our own areas. 

 
2.2 The Declaration on Healthy Weight comprises four active opportunities 

and uses which we sign up to individually and collectively.  

Page 38



 Local Declaration on Healthy Weight 
 

• Opportunity for local government to lead local action to 
prevent obesity, securing the health and wellbeing of 
residents. 
 

• Opportunity to protect some of the most vulnerable in 
society by giving children the best start in life and enabling 
all children, young people and adults to maximise their 
capabilities and make informed choices. 

 

• Opportunity to follow examples of good practice 
throughout the North West and become the first two tier 
authority to sign up to addressing a key public health 
issue. 
 

• A way of engaging all service areas (planning, children’s 
services, environmental health, public health, community 
services etc.) to highlight their role in tackling healthy 
weight using evidence based principles. 

 
2.3 The prevalence of obesity among adults has increased sharply since the 

1990s with obesity rates trebling in the last twenty years. In Cumbria 
66.9% of adults are classed as overweight or obese, in Copeland this 
figure is 75.9%.  Copeland has until very recently been badged as the 
‘fattest’ borough in England based on BMI statistics.  This is in contrast to 
the strong number of sports clubs and participation across the district – at 
55%, Copeland’s physical activity is comparable with the national average.  
However, health statistics in Cumbria highlight that 30.1% of adults are 
classed as inactive and not even participating in 30 minutes of physical 
activity per week. 

 
2.4 The Declaration encapsulates a vision to promote healthy weight and 

improve the health and wellbeing of the local population.  This fully fits 
with our commitment in Copeland to health being everybody’s business 
and our Corporate Strategy mission of making Copeland a better place to 
live, work and visit.  We are actively engaged in strengthening the way we 
work which ensures attention to cross cutting themes such as health and 
this healthy weight declaration in setting priorities and designing our 
services and projects.  As recognised by the Public Health Alliance, each 
tier of local authority has different responsibilities in contributing to the 
healthy weight agenda. 

 
2.5 The Council has been active through its leisure contract and grants in 

directly supporting and encouraging increased activity by our residents.  
We have enabled attention to maintaining affordable access to public 

Page 39



sports and leisure facilities through our BeActivePlus card and pricing.  
The Copeland Health and Wellbeing Forum have a key priority for active 
joint working and commissioning to target healthy weight with an early 
focus on infant and primary age children.  The Forum, working through the 
County Council, are commissioning a healthy foods and eating initiative 
supported by a programme to encourage more activity by this 5 to 12 year 
age group.   The Council as a key partner in the Copeland Forum are 
continually challenging its own resources and service areas to identify 
other projects in support of our partnership health priorities.  This work will 
continue through future service and project planning processes under the 
framework of this declaration if agreed. 

  
3. CONCLUSIONS 
 
3.1 Full Council are being requested to agree to the Council signing up to the 

Local Declaration on Healthy Weight as recommended by the Cumbria 
Public Health Alliance and as set out in 2.2 above. 

 
3.2 In signing this Declaration the Council will continue its active leadership 

and engagement with the Copeland Health and Wellbeing Forum with a 
re-inforced commitment to working with other partners on targeting healthy 
weight issues and opportunities.  The Copeland Forum and the Cumbria 
Public Health Alliance monitor healthy weight indicators and will be able to 
use these to assess the ongoing impact of the Declaration in ensuring 
stronger joint working on this key issue for the borough and the County. 

 
4.     STATUTORY OFFICER COMMENTS  
 
4.1 The Monitoring Officer’s comments are:  No legal issues contained in the 

report. 
 
4.2 The Section 151 Officer’s comments are:  No financial issues contained in 

the report. 
  
4.3  EIA Comments:   Project development and service planning actively work 

within our Equality Scheme and EIA process.  This declaration is targeted 
at addressing health inequality in relation to healthy weight. 

 
4.4 Policy Framework:  The Declaration is fully compatible with our Council 

Mission engaging all areas of the Council’s delivery through our strategic 
objective to work with partners to support the most vulnerable. 

 
4.5 Other Consultee Comments, if any:  Engagement with range of partners 

through our health and wellbeing partnership activities. 
 

Page 40



5.      HOW WILL THE PROPOSALS BE PROJECT MANAGED AND HOW 
ARE THE RISKS GOING TO BE MANAGED? 
 
5.1 By signing up to this Declaration the Council will be challenging and 

delivering service actions in line with the opportunities set out in 2.2.  All 
activity will be subject to the existing project and risk management 
framework and toolkits of the Council.  Strategic risk register links will be 
made as identified through the risk monitoring.   Any individual activity 
project will have its own risk register managed by the project lead and 
manager. 

 
6.       RESOURCE REQUIREMENTS 
 
6.1 The commitment to the Declaration will be delivered and resourced 

through the existing resources of the Council.  Specific partner projects 
may require new external resources to develop and implement.   

 
7. WHAT MEASURABLE OUTCOMES OR OUTPUTS WILL ARISE FROM 

THIS REPORT? 
 
7.1 A programme of service and targeted initiatives through the Copeland 

Health and Wellbeing Forum which maximise available Council activity 
and resources with other resources to address healthy weight challenges 
in the borough. 

 
List of Appendices  
None 
 
List of Background Documents: 
Public Health Alliance papers, Copeland Health and Wellbeing Forum Priorities 
and Action Plan and Case Study and information on the Declaration. 

Page 41



This page is intentionally left blank



FULL 090417 
  
 
Interim Housing Policy and Work Programme for the Copeland Local Plan 
 
EXECUTIVE MEMBER: Councillor Lena Hogg 
LEAD OFFICER: Pat Graham 
REPORT AUTHOR: Chris Hoban 

 

SUMMARY: 
 
Local Planning Authorities are required to maintain a 5 year supply of deliverable 
housing sites in order to be regarded as having up to date policies relevant to housing in 
their Local Plan.  Recent information has identified that the Council can no longer 
demonstrate a 5 year supply of deliverable sites. 
 
This report outlines the implications for the Council of not having a 5 year supply of 
housing sites when making planning decisions for housing development proposals.  It 
then identifies steps the Council can take to maintain a clear and positive framework to 
support housing development in the borough.  These steps include the adoption of an 
Interim Housing Policy to continue to proactively shape development in the short term, 
and a programme to review and amended the Local Plan as appropriate. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS:                                                                               
 
That Members: 
 a) Note the implications of no longer having a five year supply of deliverable sites 

for housing as outlined in Section 2 of this report and Appendix A 
b) Adopt the Interim Housing Policy attached in Appendix B 

 c) Approve the process and milestones for producing a new combined Local Plan 
outlined in Section 4 of this report 

 

 
 
1. INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that “Relevant policies for 

the supply of housing should not be considered up-to-date if the local planning 
authority cannot demonstrate a five-year supply of deliverable housing sites” 
(Paragraph 47). 

 

Page 43

Agenda Item 11



1.2 This statement is linked to Paragraph 14 of the NPPF, regarding decision making 
on planning applications.  Paragraph 14 states that “where the development plan 
is absent, silent or relevant policies are out-of-date, granting permission unless: 

 

 Any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this 
Framework taken as a whole; or 

 Specific policies in this Framework indicate development should be 
restricted.” 

 
1.3 The Council recently commissioned a piece of work to understand the house 

building sector in Copeland and its potential to build the number of homes 
identified in the adopted Core Strategy, as well as determining the 5 year 
housing land supply position for Copeland.   

 
1.4 This work involved interviews with the house building sector, including those 

already active in Copeland as well as potential new entrants to the borough, to 
understand their perspective around the attractiveness and issues relating to 
developing in Copeland.  The consultants used this information as well as their 
own professional judgement to consider the deliverability of the sites that 
currently have planning permission together with those proposed for allocation 
in the Local Plan. 

 
1.5 The outputs from this work included an independently produced Housing Land 

Supply Position Statement that determined whether the Council could 
demonstrate a 5 year supply of deliverable housing sites, and an assessment of 
whether the sites proposed for allocation in the Copeland Local Plan were likely 
to be developed during the Plan period. 

 
 
2.0 FINDINGS OF THE HOUSING LAND SUPPLY COMMISSION AND ITS IMPLICATIONS 

FOR THE LOCAL PLAN AND PLANNING DECISION MAKING IN COPELAND 
 

Findings from the Study 
 
2.1 The findings of the Housing Land Supply Position Statement show that house 

building rates have been significantly lower than the target set since the Core 
Strategy was adopted in 2013 (an average of 130 per annum compared to a 
target of 230 per annum).  This current low level of housebuilding, together with 
a housing target in the Core Strategy that is set to increase from 230 homes per 
annum to 300 per annum, means that the Council can only demonstrate 2 years 
and 3 months’ worth of deliverable housing supply. 

 

Page 44



2.2 There are a number of reasons for this low housing land supply figure.  These 
include: 

 

• The low build rates between 2013 and 2016, which has created a shortfall 
of approximately 300 homes against the target.  The Government expects 
this shortfall to be made good within the next five years 

• The limited number of house builders that are currently active in 
Copeland, and especially larger volume house builders  

• The relatively fragile confidence that the house building sector has in 
terms of investing in Copeland since the recession 

• The sites that are currently in the Local Plan and the emerging Site 
Allocations and Policies Plan Preferred Options are not attractive to the 
development industry 

 
2.3 When the potential deliverability of the sites within the Site Allocations and 

Policies Plan were considered over the whole of the Plan period concerns were 
raised about whether they would be able to provide the homes identified within 
the Core Strategy.  This would mean that the Council would be very unlikely to 
be able to demonstrate a 5 year housing land supply for the remainder of the 
Local Plan period. 

 
2.4 The study suggests that greater flexibility and further land for development will 

need to be identified to attract new developers and enable existing developers 
to expand to meet the growth ambitions of the borough.  It also recommends 
that the Council builds on their initial work to strengthen relationships with the 
house building sector so there is a better understanding from both parties and 
greater certainty that future Local Plans and allocations will be developed to 
meet the borough’s housing needs. 

 
 Implications 
 
2.5 The NPPF states that where Local Planning Authorities cannot demonstrate a five 

year land supply any relevant policies for the supply of housing should not be 
considered up-to-date.  This diminishes the weight that can be given to them 
when making planning decisions. 

 
2.6 The Courts have ruled that a wide definition should be taken when ‘relevant 

policies’ are considered.  This means that the following policies in the Copeland 
Local Plan will be deemed not up to date: 

• Policy ST1 to Policy ST4 (strategic policies);  

• Policy SS1 to Policy SS3 (housing policies);  

Page 45



• Policy ER1, Policy ER3, Policy ER4, Policy ER6, and Policy ER8 
(regeneration / economic development policies); and 

• Policy DM3 and Policy DM4 (development management). 

2.7 It may also be the case that other policies are shown to be relevant to the supply 
of housing and therefore not up-to-date, due to their potential to restrict 
housing development.  This may include: Policy ENV1, Policy ENV2, Policy ENV4, 
and Policy ENV5. 

 

2.8 It is likely that the most important effect resulting from the lack of a five-year 
housing land supply will be in relation to Policy ST2, which identifies that 
settlements that are acceptable for development and the use of ‘development 
boundaries’.  It is expected that the Council will come under pressure from the 
development industry to consider, and potentially approve, planning applications 
for development in locations outside of the defined settlement boundaries. 

 
2.9 Further details of the assessment into Copeland Housing Land Supply and its 

implications can be found in Appendix A. 
 
 Proposed Steps to Address Land Supply Issues 
 
2.10 The current lack of a 5 year housing land supply together with concerns about 

the ability to build the number of homes identified in the adopted Core Strategy 
demonstrate that the Council will need to take steps to help boost house 
building and make Copeland a more attractive place for developers to invest. 

 
2.11 Two main steps are proposed to address the land supply issues that have been 

identified.  These are: 
 

• To produce an Interim Housing Policy to proactively guide development 
in the short term while the ‘relevant policies’ in the adopted Core 
Strategy carry less weight 

• To review the development strategy and settlement hierarchy in the 
adopted Core Strategy to ensure they are still relevant and produce an up 
to date Local Plan 

 
2.12 The alternative to this would be to rely on the National Planning Policy 

Framework for determining planning applications.  However, this would reduce 
the Council’s ability to proactively shape development, both in terms of 
promoting the growth we wish to achieve and ensuring it is the most sustainable 
and appropriate for Copeland’s needs.  

 

Page 46



 
3. INTERIM HOUSING POLICY  
 
3.1 One way to provide greater flexibility to the existing policy framework, whilst still 

providing certainty to developers and the community, is to produce an Interim 
Housing Policy. This will highlight the criteria that are most relevant when 
considering housing development in Copeland, and explain how flexibility will be 
applied to the adopted Local Plan policies when considering planning 
applications. 

 
3.2 The Interim Housing Policy will emphasise that any housing proposals that are in 

conformity with the adopted Core Strategy will be supported.  However it also 
recognises that proposals may come forward that are not in conformity with the 
Core Strategy and provides the criteria that will need to be met in order to be 
considered sustainable development in Copeland.   

 
3.3 This may result in housing development taking place in locations that are not 

currently identified in the settlement hierarchy in the Core Strategy and more 
development in Local Centre villages than proposed in the Core Strategy. 

 
3.4 The proposed Interim Housing Policy can be found in Appendix B 
 
 
4. UPDATING THE COPELAND LOCAL PLAN  
 
4.1 The findings of the Housing Market Intelligence commission, together with the 

Government’s recently published Housing White Paper which requires Local 
Plans to be reviewed every five years, mean that now is an appropriate time to 
pause and review the strategic policies in the Core Strategy before completing 
the site allocations for the Local Plan.   

 
4.2 It is proposed that the work to produce the Site Allocations and Policies Plan will 

be paused while the Core Strategy policies are reviewed.    
 
4.3 This work will be informed by a refresh of the evidence base for the Local Plan to 

ensure that the information supporting the Plan is up to date.  This will include 
identifying the Objectively Assessed Need for housing in the borough which will 
determine the housing target for the Local Plan to ensure it is relevant to meet 
the borough’s needs and ambitions.  An update to the audit of village services in 
the borough will also help the Council to determine a sustainable strategy for 
future development.  The review will also enable the Council to reflect the 
requirements and opportunities identified in the Housing White Paper. 

 
 

Page 47



4.4 The evidence base that will be updated includes: 
 

• Objectively Assessed Need for Housing (OAN) 

• Economic Development Needs Assessment  

• Employment Land Review  

• Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA)  

• Strategic Flood Risk Assessment  

• Viability Assessment  

• Village Services Survey  

• Open Space Assessment  

4.5 The review of the Core Strategy policies will include an Issues and Options public 
consultation in the Autumn to review matters such as the settlement hierarchy 
and amount of development proposed in different locations. Once responses to 
the Issues and Options consultation have been considered any proposed changes 
to the Core Strategy will be included alongside the Site Allocations work as a 
combined Local Plan.  This document will be produced as a Preferred Options 
document for public consultation early next year.  

 
4.6 The document will be modified following the Preferred Options consultation to 

produce a final Pre-Submission Draft of the Local Plan, which will be subject to 
public consultation before it is submitted to the Secretary of State for 
Examination.  

 
4.7 This process means that the Local Plan will be completed approximately one year 

later than originally planned.  The benefit of this pause means that once it is 
adopted the Local Plan will be up to date and not require an immediate review, 
as would have been the case if the Council continued with the Site Allocations 
and Policies Plan (as the Core Strategy would be five years old and have to be 
reviewed under provisions in the Housing White Paper).  It will also ensure that 
the Council has a 5 year land supply and all adopted policies will carry full weight 
in the decision making process. 

 
4.8 The key milestones for producing the Local Plan are as follows: 
 

• Evidence base updates – Spring and Summer 2017 

• Consultation on Issues and Options (Core Strategy) – September 2017 

• Consultation on Preferred Options (Local Plan) – February 2018 

• Pre-Submission consultation (Local Plan) – September 2018 

• Submission to the Secretary of State – October 2018 

• Public Examination Hearing Sessions – Spring/Summer 2019 

Page 48



• Adoption – Autumn 2019 

 
 
5. CONCLUSIONS 
 
5.1 House building rates have been low in recent years, and have been significantly 

below the target set in the adopted Core Strategy.  This means the Council no 
longer has a 5 year supply of housing deliverable sites which reduces the weight 
attached to the adopted policies in the Core Strategy. 

 
5.2 The Council needs to review the current adopted Local Plan to ensure it is still fit 

for purpose to provide the growth and sustainable development needed in the 
borough.  

 
5.3 While the Local Plan is being produced the adoption of an Interim Housing Policy 

will help guide development and demonstrate that Copeland is ‘Open for 
Business’ and be a more attractive place for developers, including house 
builders, to invest. 

 
 
6.      STATUTORY OFFICER COMMENTS  
 
6.1 The Monitoring Officer’s comments are: Any legal issues are contained in the 
 report. 
 
6.2 The Section 151 Officer’s comments are: This report sets down an interim 
 housing policy and process to develop the Local Plan. The costs for the Arup 
 support will to be contained within the existing external funding framework 
 
6.3 Other Consultee Comments, if any: None. 
 
 
7.        HOW WILL THE PROPOSALS BE PROJECT MANAGED AND HOW ARE THE RISKS 
 GOING TO BE MANAGED? 
 
7.1 A key element for producing Local Plan documents is the Local Development 

Scheme, which is the programme management tool for the Copeland Local Plan.  
Progress against the approved timescales will be monitored annually through the 
Annual Monitoring Report. 

 
7.2 The Annual Monitoring Report will also monitor the housebuilding rates in the 

Local Plan area to ensure the target is met and report the 5 Year Housing Land 
Supply position in the future. 

Page 49



 
8.       WHAT MEASURABLE OUTCOMES OR OUTPUTS WILL ARISE FROM THIS 

REPORT? 
 
8.1 An increase in the number of homes approved in the borough, aligned to this 

Interim Housing Policy rather than being contested at appeal. 
 
8.2   Production of an up to date Local Plan. 
 
List of Appendices  
 
Appendix A – Housing Land Supply Position and its implications for Copeland 
Appendix B – Interim Housing Policy paper 
 
 
List of Background Documents: 
 
Housing Land Supply Position Statement 
 

Page 50



Appendix A: Housing Land Supply Position and its implications for Copeland

1 Context and background

1.1 Overview

To provide the rationale and context for the Interim Housing Policy, analysis of current 
housing policy and recent housing delivery in Copeland is required.

The analysis takes account of wider drivers of change since the adoption of the Copeland 
Core Strategy (2013 - 2028), these include: 

 recent evidence from the recent commission to understand the house building sector 
in Copeland, namely: Market Intelligence Report (February 2017), Housing Land 
Supply Position Statement (March 2017), Housing Land Supply Advice on Interim 
Position (March 2017), and Summary of Site Allocation Strategy Feedback (March 
2017);

 the longer term track record of housing delivery in Copeland;

 best practice interpretations and legal precedent on matters of five-year housing 
land supply; and

 issues stemming from the recently issued Housing White Paper.

1.2 Copeland Local Plan 2013 – 2028 (Core Strategy and Development Management 
Policies)

The Council adopted the Copeland Local Plan 2013 – 2028 (Core Strategy and Development 
Management Policies) (hereon Local Plan) in December 2013. 

The Local Plan provides a spatial strategy for the borough and records an overall housing 
requirement of 4,150 net additional dwellings to be achieved between 2013 and 2028. 

The spatial strategy establishes Whitehaven as the “Principal Town” and main focus for 
growth (taking 45% of the housing requirement). This is followed by apportionments of 
growth in each of the identified “Key Service Centres” of Cleator Moor (10% of the housing 
requirement), Egremont (10% of the housing requirement), and Millom (10% of the housing 
requirement). 

A general apportionment of growth is allocated to the 14 “Local Centres” (not more than 
20% in combination), but no specific breakdown is given to any of the 14 locations1. 

All other parts of the borough, which are deemed to be areas “outside settlement 
boundaries”, and includes the smaller villages and settlements, as well as those areas of 
open countryside do not have a housing allocation. There is an expectation set out in the 
Local Plan that these smaller villages and settlements, and areas of open countryside will 

1 The 14 “Local Centres” identified in the Copeland Local Plan 2013 – 2028 are: Arlecdon/Rowrah; Beckermet; 
Bigrigg; Cleator; Distington; Frizington; Haverigg; Kirkland/Ennerdale Bridge; Lowca/Parton; Moor Row; 
Moresby Parks; Seascale; St Bees; and Thornhill.

Page 51



accommodate very limited numbers of new dwellings, as part of rural exception sites and/or 
windfalls.

1.3 Site Allocations and Policies Development Plan Document

The Local Plan was set to be accompanied by a Site Allocations and Policies Development 
Plan Document (DPD), which was forecast to be adopted in 2018.

However, the Council is currently reflecting on the most effective approach to providing a 
robust policy framework in the borough. This includes considering whether to prepare a new 
Local Plan, and the potential for looking at the objectively assessed needs for housing and 
economic development, as well as providing the details on sites and locations for growth in 
Copeland.

1.4 Housing Land Supply & Market Intelligence Reports (March 2017)

Overview

Consultants have produced a series of reports on behalf of the Council looking at the 
housing land supply position and housing market conditions in the borough. The documents 
analyse housing delivery in Copeland up to and including the 31st March 2016. 

In summary, the housing land supply paper concludes that the Council cannot currently 
demonstrate a five-year housing land supply. The scale of land supply in the borough is 
gauged to be only 2 years and 3 months when compared against the relevant Local Plan 
targets and making allowances under the appropriate methodology.

Confirming Copeland’s Housing Requirement

The Housing Land Supply Position Statement (2017) operates on the basis that ‘Policy SS2: 
Sustainable Housing Growth’ of the Local Plan sets out a housing requirement of 230 
dwellings per annum between 2013/2014 and 2017/2018; and a requirement of 300 
dwellings per annum between 2018/2019 and 2027/2028. 

Policy SS2 is in fact somewhat unclear as to what targets it is seeking to achieve. However, it 
is accepted that the supporting text to Policy SS2 (specifically Paragraph 5.3.5) in tandem 
with Figure 3.3 and Figure 5.1 of the Local Plan, do appear to suggest that the Council’s 
strategy is to realise the “market uplift” target from 2018/2019 onwards.

Five-year Housing Land Supply Methodology

The Housing Land Supply Position Statement (2017) analysis follows the best practice 
methodology for calculating the five-year housing land supply position. This is colloquially 
known as the “Sedgefield” methodology, and seeks to make good any previous under-
delivery in the next five-year period. 

The work also considers whether or not the Council should allow for a 20% to the housing 
supply calculations based on its track record of delivery, and whether it has seen “persistent 
under delivery”. 

Page 52



The report confirms that there has been “persistent under delivery” in the borough and 
therefore the 20% buffer is applied.

Five-year Housing Land Requirement Compared Against Supply

The assessment and analysis set out in the Housing Land Supply Position Statement (2017) 
shows that the requirement over the next five-years (2016/2017 to 2020/2021) is 1,990 
dwellings, once the previous under-delivery is factored back in, and the 20% buffer is 
applied.

In order to meet this requirement and be able to demonstrate a five-year housing land 
supply, the report shows that sites which are capable of being delivered in the next five-
years only amount to 918 dwellings.

On that basis the analysis concludes that the Council can only demonstrate 2 years and 3 
months’ worth of supply.

Update to Take Account of Data from 2016/2017
At time of writing, the Council is close to the end of its monitoring year for housing 
completions. For the five-year housing land supply position to be truly reflective of the latest 
position, it is preferable to align the housing land supply assessment with the latest 
completion figures. This is so that an account of progress against target can fully marry up 
with the latest knowledge of housing supply. As such, it is advised that the Council re-
assesses its five-year housing land supply position as soon as practicable after the 31st 
March 2017 and sets out a new position.

1.5 Looking at the Wider Context

To provide a wider frame of reference, it is helpful to look at the housing delivery record in 
Copeland over the long term. Data sourced from DCLG shows that delivery has historically 
fallen short of the relevant target. Table 2.1 sets this out in more detail and also includes a 
partial update of the completion figures showing figures for 2016/2017. It should be noted 
that the 2016/2017 figures only include data up to the 31st January 2017, and therefore the 
total is likely to be higher.

Page 53



Table 2.1: Copeland Housing Delivery Against Target (1990/1991 to 2016/2017)

Year Total Completions Target Difference

1990/1991 100 190 -90
1991/1992 130 190 -60
1992/1993 180 190 -10
1993/1994 180 190 -10
1994/1995 170 190 -20
1995/1996 240 190 +50
1996/1997 210 190 +20
1997/1998 90 190 -100
1998/1999 120 190 -70
1999/2000* 150* 190 -40
2000/2001 200 190 +10
2001/2002 150 190 -30
2002/2003 140 190 -50
2003/2004 124 230 -106
2004/2005 268 230 38
2005/2006 123 230 -107
2006/2007 138 230 -92
2007/2008 104 230 -126
2008/2009 48 230 -182
2009/2010 153 230 -77
2010/2011 143 230 -87
2011/2012 158 230 -72
2012/2013 120 230 -110
2013/2014 133 230 -97
2014/2015 135 230 -95
2015/2016 127 230 -103
2016/2017** 146 230 -84

Source: DCLG Live Tables 253. Arup Analysis
N.B. *1998/1999 is data only for private sector completions. No affordable housing data recorded. 

N.B. ** 2016/2017 data not completed as monitoring period runs until 31st March 2017. Figures 
likely to be higher

Page 54



Table 2.2: Copeland Housing Delivery Against Target (2003/2004 to 2016/2017)

Year Total Target Difference Core Strategy 
Cumulative

10 Year 
Cumulative

Long Term Cumulative 
(14 years)

2003/2004 124 230 -106   -106
2004/2005 268 230 38   -68
2005/2006 123 230 -107   -175
2006/2007 138 230 -92   -267
2007/2008 104 230 -126  -126 -393
2008/2009 48 230 -182  -308 -575
2009/2010 153 230 -77  -385 -652
2010/2011 143 230 -87  -472 -739
2011/2012 158 230 -72  -544 -811
2012/2013 120 230 -110  -654 -921
2013/2014 133 230 -97 -97 -751 -1,018
2014/2015 135 230 -95 -192 -846 -1,113
2015/2016 127 230 -103 -295 -949 -1,216
2016/2017* 146 230 -84 -379 -1,033 -1,300

Core Strategy Total 541 920 -379
Core Strategy Average 135 230 -95   
10-Year Total 1,267 2,300 -1,033
10-Year Average 127 230 -103  
Long-term Total (14 years) 1,920 3,220 -1,300
Long-term Average (14 years) 137 230 -93   

Source: Copeland Borough Council and PFK / Arup Analysis
N.B. * 2016/2017 data not completed as monitoring period runs until 31st March 2017. Figures likely to be higher.

P
age 55



Figure 2.1: Graph of Copeland Housing Delivery Against Target (1990/1991 to 2016/2017)

P
age 56



2 What is the effect of not being able to demonstrate a five-year housing 
land supply?

2.1 Overview

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2012) requires that local planning 
authorities (LPAs) identify and update annually a supply of specific deliverable sites 
sufficient to provide five years’ worth of housing against their housing requirements.

The National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) (2014) also reiterates the importance of 
identifying a supply of deliverable sites to provide five years’ worth of housing against 
housing requirements.

The NPPF also clarifies what the implications are in a LPA cannot demonstrate five years’ 
worth of housing against their requirements. At Paragraph 49, its sets out that in such 
circumstances:

“[r]elevant policies for the supply of housing should not be considered up-to-date if the 
local planning authority cannot demonstrate a five-year supply of deliverable housing 
sites.”

Paragraph 49 of the NPPF is directly linked to Paragraph 14 of the NPPF, and has the effect 
of altering the perspective when taking decisions on planning applications, in so far that:

“where the development plan is absent, silent or relevant policies are out-of-date, 
granting permission unless:

- Any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole; or

- Specific policies in this Framework indicate development should be restricted.”

In simple terms, the implication of not being able to demonstrate a five-year housing land 
supply is that the policies relating to housing within the local plan are deemed to be ‘out-of-
date’. As such, the weight that should be attached to them in decision-making should be 
reduced in reaching conclusions on the acceptability of housing development in the district.

2.2 Legal Precedent and Implications

Whilst the implications set out in the NPPF cannot be ignored, the effect for decision-
making on planning applications is more subtle. There are clear rulings made by both the 
High Court and Court of Appeal which provide clarity on the relationship between the 
Council’s development plan, its five-year housing land supply position, and the approach to 
decision-making. These are summarised below.

1. Tewkesbury Borough Council v Secretary of State for Communities and Local 
Government [2013] EWHC 286 (Admin)

Which clarified (see Paragraph 21) that it: 

“…is not to say, however, that the absence of a five year housing land supply would be 
conclusive in favour of the grant of planning permission….the absence of such a supply 

Page 57



was merely one consideration required to be taken into account, albeit an important 
one.”

2. Crane v Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government [2015] EWHC 425 
(Admin)

At Paragraph 62 of this judgement it is clearly set out that: 

“Policy in the NPPF, including the "presumption in favour of sustainable development" in 
paragraph 14, does not modify the statutory framework for the making of decisions on 
applications for planning permission. It operates within that framework – as the NPPF 
itself acknowledges in paragraph 12. It is for the decision-maker to decide what weight 
should be given to NPPF policy in so far as it is relevant to the proposal.”

In Paragraph 65, the judgement goes on to set out a series of steps that can be followed in 
decision-making: 

“The first step, under paragraph 49 of the NPPF, is to consider whether relevant "policies 
for the supply of housing" are out of date because "the local planning authority cannot 
demonstrate a five-year supply of deliverable housing sites". If that is so, the 
"presumption in favour of sustainable development" in paragraph 14 of the NPPF will be 
engaged. The second step will be to consider whether planning permission should be 
withheld for either of the two possible reasons given in paragraph 14. I see nothing in the 
Secretary of State's decision letter to suggest that he misunderstood this approach.”

Elsewhere within the judgement, at Paragraph 71, the consideration of how much weight 
should be attributed to policies which are deemed ‘out of date’ is discussed. The ruling 
clarifies by stating: 

“neither paragraph 49 of the NPPF nor paragraph 14 prescribes the weight to be given to 
policies in a plan which are out of date. Neither of those paragraphs of the NPPF says 
that a development plan whose policies for the supply of housing are out of date 
should be given no weight, or minimal weight, or, indeed, any specific amount of 
weight”. [Emphasis added].

Paragraph 71 goes on to state: 

“However, the weight to be given to such policies is not dictated by government policy in 
the NPPF. Nor is it, or could it be, fixed in the case law of the Planning Court. It will vary 
according to the circumstances, including, for example, the extent to which the policies 
actually fall short of providing for the required five-year supply, and the prospect of 
development soon coming forward to make up the shortfall”. [Emphasis added].

3. Suffolk Coastal District Council v Hopkins Homes Ltd & Anor [2016] EWCA Civ 168

At Paragraph 36 of this Court of Appeal judgement, it is made clear what is meant by the 
term ‘relevant policies for the supply of housing’, by stating: “

In our view the meaning of those words, construed objectively in their proper context, is 
“relevant policies affecting the supply of housing”. This corresponds to the “wider” 
interpretation, which was advocated on behalf of the Secretary of State in these appeals. 

Page 58



Not only is this a literal interpretation of the policy in paragraph 49; it is, we believe, the 
only interpretation consistent with the obvious purpose of the policy when read in its 
context. A “relevant” policy here is simply a policy relevant to the application for 
planning permission before the decision-maker – relevant either because it is a policy 
relating specifically to the provision of new housing in the local planning authority’s area 
or because it bears upon the principle of the site in question being developed for 
housing.”

For the avoidance of doubt, Paragraph 37 of that judgement goes on to state: 

Our interpretation of the policy does not confine the concept of “policies for the supply of 
housing” merely to policies in the development plan that provide positively for the 
delivery of new housing in terms of numbers and distribution or the allocation of sites. It 
recognizes that the concept extends to plan policies whose effect is to influence the 
supply of housing land by restricting the locations where new housing may be developed 
– including, for example, policies for the Green Belt, policies for the general protection of 
the countryside, policies for conserving the landscape of Areas of Outstanding Natural 
Beauty and National Parks, policies for the conservation of wildlife or cultural heritage, 
and various policies whose purpose is to protect the local environment in one way or 
another by preventing or limiting development. It reflects the reality that policies may 
serve to form the supply of housing land either by creating it or by constraining it – that 
policies of both kinds make the supply what it is.”

At Paragraphs 42 and 43 the judgement goes on to re-iterate the conclusion in Crane, 
clarifying that: 

“The NPPF is a policy document. It ought not to be treated as if it had the force of 
statute. It does not, and could not, displace the statutory “presumption in favour of the 
development plan”, as Lord Hope described it in City of Edinburgh Council v Secretary of 
State for Scotland [1997] 1 W.L.R. 1447 at 1450B-G). Under section 70(2) of the 1990 Act 
and section 38(6) of the 2004 Act, government policy in the NPPF is a material 
consideration external to the development plan. Policies in the NPPF, including those 
relating to the “presumption in favour of sustainable development”, do not modify the 
statutory framework for the making of decisions on applications for planning permission. 
They operate within that framework – as the NPPF itself acknowledges, for example, in 
paragraph 12 (see paragraph 12 above). It is for the decision-maker to decide what 
weight should be given to NPPF policies in so far as they are relevant to the proposal. 
Because this is government policy, it is likely always to merit significant weight. But the 
court will not intervene unless the weight given to it by the decision-maker can be said to 
be unreasonable in the Wednesbury sense.

When determining an application for planning permission for housing development the 
decision-maker will have to consider, in the usual way, whether or not the proposal 
accords with the relevant provisions of the development plan. If it does, the question will 
be whether other material considerations, including relevant policies in the NPPF, 
indicate that planning permission should not be granted. If the proposal does not accord 
with the relevant provisions of the plan, it will be necessary to consider whether other 
material considerations, including relevant policies in the NPPF, nevertheless indicate 
that planning permission should be granted.”

Page 59



So in summary, for the Council’s decision-making process, the starting point remains 
whether or not the application is in accordance with the development plan.

Where it is not, the Council will need to consider other material considerations, including 
the NPPF, to see whether there are issues which justify the granting of planning permission. 
In appraising material considerations and the NPPF, the Council will have to acknowledge 
that it cannot currently demonstrate a five-year housing land supply, and therefore 
ascertain whether the policies in contention are ‘relevant to the supply of housing’ 
recognising the wide definition provided by the Courts.

If it is shown that the policy (or policies) in question are relevant to the supply of housing, 
the decision-maker will need to determine the weight to be given to those policies 
depending upon the context and circumstances before them. It is recognised that this is 
likely to be normally less weight than can be attributed when the Council can fully provide 
five years’ worth of supply.

The weight attributed to the development plan policies, along with the material 
considerations prompted by the development, should then to be weighed together in the 
‘planning balance’ in order to reach an overall judgement as to whether planning permission 
should be granted or refused in accordance with the statutory presumption in favour of the 
development plan.

2.3 Effect on Copeland’s Local Plan Policy

Given that the Courts have ruled that relevant policies for supply of housing should take a 
wide definition, it is advised that the Council should account for the fact that a broad range 
of its Local Plan policies will be deemed not up-to-date. This includes:

 Policy ST1 to Policy ST4 (strategic); 

 Policy SS1 to Policy SS3 (housing); 

 Policy ER1, Policy ER3, Policy ER4, Policy ER6, and Policy ER8 (regeneration / economic 
development); and

 Policy DM3 and Policy DM4 (development management).

It may also be the case that other policies are shown to be relevant to the supply of housing 
and therefore not up-to-date, this may include: Policy ENV1, Policy ENV2, Policy ENV4, and 
Policy ENV5.

It is likely that the most important effect resulting from the lack of a five-year housing land 
supply will be in relation to Policy ST2. The policy provides criteria to define acceptable 
locations for development via the use of “development boundaries”.

It is expected that the Council will come under pressure from the development industry to 
consider, and potentially approve, planning applications for development in locations 
outside of the defined settlement boundaries.

Page 60



2.4 Issues Stemming from the Housing White Paper

The Housing White Paper was issued in February 2017, and sets out a wide range of 
proposals to amend the planning system. 

Amongst the proposals are a stricter set of terms upon which LPAs will be judged on 
whether they are meeting their housing targets (the Housing Delivery Test). 

It happens to be the case that the ramifications of applying the Housing Delivery Test in 
Copeland would be the same as have already been accepted and acknowledged by the 
Council. In this respect, it appears that Copeland would not be further affected if the 
measures are put in place by Government. This means the Interim Housing Policy would be 
expected to endure even after the Government’s changes are made.

In addition, to the Housing Delivery Test, the Council will to have to calculate its five-year 
housing land supply position based upon the standardised data and standardised approach 
published by Government. It will also be expected to publish the five-year housing land 
supply position as part of the annual Authority’s Monitoring Report.

2.5 Conclusion

Given the analysis set out in Section 2 and Section 3, the Council has decided to put in place 
an Interim Housing Policy to proactively engage with the development industry, and help 
address the fact that the Council cannot demonstrate a five-year housing land supply. 

Page 61



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix B: Interim Housing Policy

Interim Housing Policy

Overview

As of the 9th May 2017, Copeland Borough Council has announced that it cannot 
demonstrate a five-year supply of housing sites. The Council accepts therefore that “policies 
for the supply of housing” set out within the Copeland Local Plan 2013 – 2028 (Core Strategy 
and Development Management Policies) will no longer be deemed up-to-date; and these 
policies carry less than full weight in decision-making.

Interim Housing Policy (2017)

The Council will continue to support applications that are in accordance with the 
development plan. However, in order to encourage sustainable development and boost 
housing delivery, a decision-making framework for planning applications that may not be 
fully in accordance with the development plan has been set out. 

The Council will (in addition to the development plan and other material considerations) 
consider residential development proposals contiguous to the development boundary, or 
the existing built form of a settlement, against each of the following criteria:

A. The scale of proposed development must be appropriate to the size, character and role 
of the settlement. In deciding whether the scale is appropriate, account will be taken of 
the cumulative impact of completions and permissions for the settlement concerned.

B. The level of services and facilities in the settlement, as defined in the Village Services 
Survey (2017). To encourage sustainable development, preference will be given to 
schemes which are contiguous to settlements that have the greatest concentration of 
facilities and services. Information provided by applicants which seeks to update the 
survey will be a material consideration.

C. Proposed development should not have a significant adverse impact on the capacity and 
safety of the highway network.

D. Proposed development should create safe and accessible environments that offer good 
access via a range of transport modes. Sites where it is possible to walk easily to a range 
of facilities will be considered more sustainable than sites that are further away and 
which would make car journeys more likely.

E. Proposed development sites that fall within Flood Risk Zone 3a and 3b, as defined by 
Environment Agency’s latest data, will be discounted unless robust evidence can prove 
that the flood zoning for the site is incorrect, or that there is a robust mitigation plan 
signed off by the Environment Agency.

Page 63



F. Proposed development should not have an adverse impact on the Lake District National 
Park, and should demonstrate how they conserve or enhance the natural beauty, wildlife 
and cultural heritage of the Lake District National Park, or its setting.

G. Proposed development should, subject to viability, include a proportion of affordable 
housing which makes the maximum contribution to meeting identified needs in that 
market area. 

H. Proposed development for Executive Housing will be supported where it delivers 
significant and demonstrable economic, social, and environmental benefits.

I. Proposed development should be of a high quality design, enhancing local 
distinctiveness; and, where relevant, respecting the rural character of the settlement.

J. Proposed development should not result in significant intrusion into the open 
countryside, or result in any settlements merging.

K. Proposed development should not result in significant and demonstrable harm to the 
landscape character of Copeland, and applicants should have regard to those landscape 
areas as defined in the Cumbria Landscape Guidance and Toolkit (2011), or any 
subsequent update.

L. Major developments should be supported by a masterplan (to include a phasing 
scheme), which will demonstrate what proportion of development will be deliverable 
within the five year supply period relevant to the date of determination of the planning 
application. 

It is recognised that the adoption of the Interim Housing Policy falls outside of the statutory 
development plan. The Interim Housing Policy will however be relied upon as a material 
consideration in the determination of planning applications.

Page 64


	Agenda
	6 New Council Accommodation:  Proposal to Name Main Council Chamber/Conference/Meeting Room as the ‘OSSY COYLES" Meeting Room
	7 Scrutiny Committee Annual Report
	8 Social Media Policy
	Social Media AUP Revised Jan 2017

	9 Member Development Strategy
	Member Development Strategy 2017 App A

	10 Healthy Weight Declaration
	11 Interim Housing Policy and Work Programme for the Copeland Local Plan
	2017-05-09 - Appendix A - Housing Position and Implications
	2017-05-09 - Appendix B - Interim Housing Policy


